

Table of Contents

About the Brief	3
How to Read this Practice Brief	4
Key Purposes	4
What is a "presidential executive order"?	7
What is "radical indoctrination"?	9
What is a "chilling effect"?	11
Essential Questions to Consider	13
Key Takeaways from the Executive Order	17
What Educators Can Do Right Now	19
Press Coverage On the Executive Order	22
Public Statements in Response to the Executive Order	29
Legal Analysis of the Executive Order	34
What Educators Can Do to Strategically Respond	39
Key Resources for Educators Advancing Equity	43
Looking Ahead: Essential Questions to Consider	49
About the Author and USC Race and Equity Center	50

In response to the <u>executive order</u> issued by President Trump on January 29, 2025, "Ending Radical Indoctrination in K-12 Schooling," teachers and school leaders committed to advancing racial equity will most likely be advised to make curriculum adjustments that comply with federal restrictions while ensuring students receive a historically and legally accurate education. The executive order emphasizes parental rights and transparency, requiring schools to clearly communicate curriculum content while balancing compliance with state and local policies.

Although there are significant limitations to federal control over K-12 curriculum decisions, policy experts expect a "chilling effect" from this executive order on classroom discussions about race, gender, and identity, which could limit students' ability to critically analyze history and social issues. Additionally, historically marginalized and minoritized students may feel excluded from discussions if certain topics are restricted.

To address this concern and the restrictions outlined in the order, K-12 educators should adopt inquiry-based learning strategies and leverage primary sources, such as the Constitution and landmark legal cases in social studies, to encourage critical thinking. Ensuring student well-being and fostering an inclusive environment remains paramount, even when executive orders might suggest otherwise.

To support racial equity in education, educators should proactively engage parents, maintain legally sound discussions, and monitor policy shifts that could impact teaching strategies. Teachers must continue to align with state policies while ensuring students can explore historical inequalities through critical inquiry rather than direct instruction on topics explicitly prohibited by state and local policy decisions.

Legal uncertainties and possible conflicts between federal and state mandates will require K-12 educators to remain adaptable and well-informed. Professional development is crucial to better equipping educators with strategies to address sensitive topics effectively while maintaining compliance with local, state, and federal regulations. Schools can also implement structured dialogues and town halls to foster open conversations with families about educational goals.

By emphasizing student-centered learning, legal adherence, and community engagement, educators can continue to provide an inclusive and thought-provoking education experience.

How to Read this Practice Brief

This practice brief for K-12 educators includes: Key takeaways from the executive order, what educators can do in response to the order, limitations of the order, press coverage of the executive order, public statements in response to the order, legal analysis of the order, recommendations for educators to consider, key resources to reference, and essential questions for educators to explore with their colleagues, students, and school communities. Generative AI assisted the author's development and organization of this brief, which includes original expert analysis along with AI generated content that has been carefully reviewed for credibility, reliability, substance, accuracy, and clarity.

Key Purposes

There are seven key purposes for readers to effectively use this practice brief to inform their work as K-12 educators:

1. Understand the Executive Order's Impact on K-12 Education

- Gain a clear overview of the executive order "Ending Radical Indoctrination in K-12 Schooling" and its key provisions.
- Identify how curriculum, classroom instruction, teacher training, and parental rights are affected.
- Recognize the potential implications for school funding, legal compliance, and policy enforcement.

2. Navigate Legal and Policy Implications

- Understand the limitations of the executive order and potential conflicts with existing federal and state laws.
- Stay informed about legal challenges and policy shifts that may affect implementation.
- Ensure compliance with civil rights protections (e.g., Title VI, Title IX) while maintaining educational integrity.

3. Adopt Instructional Strategies That Align with the Order While Preserving Academic Rigor

- Implement inquiry-based learning, primary source analysis, and critical thinking exercises to discuss history, race, and identity within legal constraints.
- Learn how to adjust curriculum and classroom discussions to ensure compliance without compromising historical accuracy and student engagement.
- Maintain transparency with parents and administrators about instructional practices while safeguarding academic freedom.

4. Develop Proactive and Legally Sound Responses to Policy Changes

- Access best practices for balancing compliance with student-centered, inclusive education.
- Collaborate with colleagues to share strategies, support one another, and mitigate the chilling effect on discussions of race, gender, and identity.
- Engage in professional development to enhance skills in teaching controversial or sensitive topics in a legally sound manner.

5. Strengthen Parent and Community Engagement

- Learn how to communicate effectively with parents and community stakeholders about curriculum content and policy changes.
- Develop strategies for fostering constructive dialogue in school communities to navigate political and ideological divides.
- Utilize structured town halls and parent forums to address concerns and reinforce the importance of well-rounded, historically accurate education.

6. Safeguard Student Well-being and Equity in Schools

- Maintain inclusive classroom environments where all students feel respected and valued, regardless of policy shifts.
- Ensure that student support services, including counseling and mental health resources,
 remain accessible and legally protected.
- Monitor the impact of the executive order on historically marginalized and minoritized student populations and advocate for equitable educational opportunities.

7. Access Key Resources and Professional Networks for Ongoing Support

- Leverage curated resources, including professional development programs, legal compliance checklists, curriculum guides, and advocacy tools.
- Stay connected with education organizations, civil rights groups, and legal experts to navigate policy shifts effectively.
- Utilize the brief's recommendations, key takeaways, and strategic action steps to maintain high-quality, student-centered education.

The information shared in this practice brief should be used for informational purposes by K-12 educators committed to advancing educational equity. The primary purpose of a practice brief for K-12 educators is to provide concise, research-informed, and actionable guidance on a specific policy, practice, or issue affecting K-12 education. It serves as a practical resource to help educators understand, navigate, and respond to key developments in education policy, instructional strategies, and student support systems.

What is a "presidential executive order"?

A presidential executive order is a directive issued by the President of the United States that manages operations of the federal government. Executive orders have the force of law but do not require approval from Congress. They are typically used to direct federal agencies and officials in their execution of existing laws and policies.

Key Features of Executive Orders

1. Issued by the President

The President has the constitutional authority, primarily derived from Article II of the U.S.
 Constitution, to issue executive orders.

2. Has Legal Force

 Though not legislation passed by Congress, executive orders must be followed like law, provided they fall within the President's constitutional or statutory authority.

3. Can Be Challenged

• Executive orders can be reviewed by courts and deemed unconstitutional if they exceed presidential authority.

4. Can Be Overturned

Congress may pass legislation to override an executive order, though this requires
enough support to overcome a potential presidential veto. Additionally, a new president
can revoke, modify, or replace previous executive orders.

Legal Basis

- U.S. Constitution, Article II, Section 1 Grants the President "executive power."
- U.S. Constitution, Article II, Section 3 Requires the President to "take care that the laws be faithfully executed."

Examples of Notable Executive Orders

- Executive Order 9066 (1942) Ordered the internment of Japanese Americans during World War II.
- Executive Order 9981 (1948) Desegregated the U.S. military.
- Executive Order 13672 (2014) Prohibited discrimination based on sexual orientation or gender identity in federal employment.

For more information, refer to these sources

- National Archives Presidential Documents
 https://www.archives.gov/federal-register/executive-orders
- Library of Congress Executive Orders
 https://guides.loc.gov/executive-orders

What is "radical indoctrination"?

Radical indoctrination refers to the process of systematically influencing individuals to adopt extreme ideological, political, or religious beliefs, often leading to intolerance, fanaticism, or even violent actions. It typically involves manipulation, misinformation, and psychological conditioning to shape an individual's worldview in a way that discourages independent thought and critical analysis.

Key Characteristics of Radical Indoctrination

1. Ideological Manipulation

The deliberate shaping of beliefs to align with a rigid, extremist ideology.

2. Isolation from Alternative Views

Restricting exposure to opposing perspectives to reinforce a singular narrative.

3. Emotional and Psychological Conditioning

• Using fear, guilt, or moral superiority to strengthen adherence to the ideology.

4. Demonization of "Others"

Portraying certain groups as enemies, threats, or morally inferior.

5. Call to Action

 Encouraging participants to act in accordance with the ideology, sometimes including violence or activism.

Examples of Radical Indoctrination

Religious Extremism

• Groups like Al-Qaeda or ISIS recruit individuals by promoting a distorted interpretation of religious texts.

Political Radicalization

• Far-left and far-right movements use propaganda to recruit individuals into extremist activism.

Cult Indoctrination

• Groups such as the People's Temple (Jonestown) manipulated members into extreme devotion, leading to mass suicide in 1978.

Academic Perspectives on Radical Indoctrination

- Dr. Jerrold Post (Political Psychology): Studies how terrorist groups use psychological techniques to radicalize members.
- Dr. Scott Atran (Anthropology & Terrorism Studies): Researches how radical beliefs develop, particularly in young recruits.
- Hannah Arendt (*The Origins of Totalitarianism*, 1951): Examines how totalitarian regimes indoctrinate citizens to control societies.

References

- Post, Jerrold M. (2007). The Mind of the Terrorist: The Psychology of Terrorism from the IRA to al-Qaeda.
 - https://www.cambridge.org/us/academic/subjects/psychology/social-psychology/mind-terrorist-psychology-terrorism-ira-al-gaeda?format=PB
- Atran, Scott. (2010). Talking to the Enemy: Faith, Brotherhood, and the (Un)Making of Terrorists.
 - https://www.penguinrandomhouse.com/books/314205/talking-to-the-enemy-by-scottatran/
- Arendt, Hannah. (1951). The Origins of Totalitarianism.
 https://press.princeton.edu/books/paperback/9780156701532/the-origins-of-totalitarianism

What is a "chilling effect"?

A "chilling effect" refers to the act of voluntarily conforming to expected authority or rules before being explicitly commanded to do so, which is also known as "anticipatory obedience." This behavior often arises from fear, social pressure, or an ingrained desire to comply with perceived authority, sometimes leading to excessive or unnecessary submission.

Key Aspects of Anticipatory Obedience

Proactive Compliance

Individuals or groups adjust their behavior in advance of actual orders, often assuming what authority figures will want.

Can Strengthen Authoritarianism

Historian Timothy Snyder warns that anticipatory obedience can **normalize undemocratic behavior** and contribute to the erosion of freedoms.

Historical Examples

- **Nazi Germany:** Many individuals and institutions aligned themselves with Hitler's ideology before being explicitly required to do so.
- Soviet Union: Citizens often censored themselves beyond official requirements out of fear of repression.

Timothy Snyder on Anticipatory Obedience

In his book On Tyranny: Twenty Lessons from the Twentieth Century (2017), historian Timothy Snyder warns that early, voluntary submission to authoritarian power helps legitimize and accelerate tyranny. He states: "Most of the power of authoritarianism is freely given. In times like these, individuals think ahead about what a more repressive government will want and then start to do it without being asked."

For more information, refer to these sources

- Snyder, Timothy. *On Tyranny: Twenty Lessons from the Twentieth Century.* (2017) https://www.penguinrandomhouse.com/books/558646/on-tyranny-by-timothy-snyder/
- Hannah Arendt. The Origins of Totalitarianism. (1951): Discusses how authoritarian regimes benefit from voluntary compliance.
 https://www.hup.harvard.edu/catalog.php?isbn=9780156701532

Uncertain Impact on Schools

While the executive order sets a political directive, its practical implementation faces significant legal, financial, and logistical challenges. Educators, school boards, and parents should stay informed about legal developments, monitor state and local responses, and prepare for potential policy shifts in the future.

In light of the recent Executive Order titled "Ending Radical Indoctrination in K-12 Schooling," educators committed to advancing racial equity should consider several critical questions to navigate the evolving educational landscape effectively:

1. How does the Executive Order define "discriminatory equity ideology," and what implications does this have for current curricula and teaching practices?

• The Executive Order defines "discriminatory equity ideology" as an approach that treats individuals as members of preferred or disfavored groups, minimizing personal agency and merit in favor of generalizations based on race, color, sex, or national origin. Educators should review this definition to assess how it aligns or conflicts with existing equity-focused curricula.

2. What specific aspects of our current curriculum could be perceived as promoting "discriminatory equity ideology" under the new guidelines?

 Educators should conduct a thorough audit of their teaching materials and methods to identify content that might be interpreted as aligning with the prohibited ideologies outlined in the Executive Order.

3. How can we continue to teach about systemic racism and historical injustices while complying with the new regulations?

• It's essential to find balanced approaches to discussing systemic issues, ensuring that teachings are framed in a way that emphasizes individual agency and merit, and are presented objectively to foster critical thinking without assigning collective guilt or victimhood.

4. What strategies can we employ to engage parents and the community in discussions about curriculum changes related to racial equity?

 Building transparent communication channels with parents and community members can help in collaboratively shaping curricula that respect diverse perspectives while adhering to new policies.

5. How will the reestablishment of the President's Advisory 1776 Commission influence educational content, and how should we prepare for its recommendations?

• The 1776 Commission aims to promote patriotic education. Educators should anticipate potential shifts towards curricula that emphasize America's founding principles and achievements and consider how to integrate these perspectives while still addressing complex historical realities.

6. What professional development resources are available to help educators navigate these changes while maintaining a commitment to racial equity?

• Seeking out training and resources that focus on culturally responsive teaching within the framework of the new regulations can support educators in delivering inclusive education.

7. How can we assess the impact of these policy changes on students from diverse racial and ethnic backgrounds?

• Implementing feedback mechanisms, such as surveys and focus groups, can provide insights into how students perceive and are affected by curriculum changes, ensuring that their voices inform ongoing adjustments.

8. What legal considerations should we be aware of to ensure compliance while advocating for racial equity in education?

 Consulting with legal experts or educational policy advisors can help educators understand the legal boundaries and opportunities for promoting equity within the constraints of the Executive Order.

By thoughtfully addressing these questions, educators can strive to uphold their commitment to racial equity while navigating the directives of the recent Executive Order.

K-12 educators committed to advancing racial equity can navigate concerns about "radical indoctrination" by ensuring their instruction fosters critical thinking, inclusivity, and open dialogue rather than imposing specific ideological viewpoints. To do so, they should consider the following key questions:

Encouraging Critical Thinking & Inquiry

- Am I presenting racial equity concepts in a way that encourages inquiry rather than demanding agreement?
 - Do I provide students with multiple perspectives on historical and contemporary racial issues?
 - Am I helping students develop analytical skills to evaluate different viewpoints rather than prescribing a specific belief system?
- Am I teaching students how to think, not what to think, about racial equity?
 - Do I encourage students to ask questions, engage in discussion, and form their own reasoned conclusions?
 - Do I use evidence-based research and data rather than emotionally charged rhetoric?

Fostering an Inclusive Learning Environment

- Am I creating a space where all students feel safe to share their perspectives, including those with differing views on race and equity?
 - Am I fostering respectful discussion where students can express concerns, challenge ideas, and ask difficult questions?
 - Am I careful not to shame or alienate students based on their identities or backgrounds?
- Am I being mindful of diverse perspectives and experiences within racial equity discussions?
 - Do I acknowledge that racial experiences vary within and across different communities?
 - Am I careful not to impose a single narrative that might exclude certain viewpoints?

Avoiding Indoctrination While Promoting Racial Literacy

- Am I using curricula (e.g., history, social studies, literature, health) that are balanced, factual, and aligned with academic standards?
 - Am I presenting primary sources, scholarly research, and data to support discussions of race and history?
 - Do I ensure that the curriculum is developmentally appropriate and historically accurate?
- Am I distinguishing between facts, interpretations, and opinions in my teaching?
 - Do I clarify the difference between historical evidence, contemporary policy debates, and personal perspectives?
 - o Am I transparent about what is academic consensus versus ongoing debate?

Respecting Families & Communities

- Am I respecting the role of families in shaping students' values and perspectives on race?
 - Do I communicate with families about how racial equity topics are addressed in the classroom?
 - Am I providing opportunities for families to engage in conversations about curriculum and instructional choices?

By reflecting on these questions, educators can effectively advance racial equity while ensuring their teaching is rigorous, balanced, and fosters critical thinking—helping students engage with racial justice issues in a thoughtful and analytical way without the perception of ideological coercion.

Key Takeaways from the Executive Order

The executive order "Ending Radical Indoctrination in K-12 Schooling" outlines specific policy changes that will impact curriculum, classroom instruction, teacher training, and parental rights. Below are the key takeaways for educators to consider:

1. Curriculum and Instruction Changes

- Increased Restrictions on Certain Topics: The executive order prohibits schools from teaching or promoting concepts labeled as "discriminatory equity ideology," such as white privilege, unconscious bias, systemic racism, and gender ideology.
- Mandate for "Patriotic Education": Educators will be expected to present American history in a way that is "accurate, honest, unifying, and ennobling," with an emphasis on national pride and the nation's progress toward its founding principles.
- Removal of Federal Support for DEI Initiatives: Funding streams that support diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI) programs in curriculum, professional development, or student programs may be discontinued.

2. Restrictions on Gender Identity and Student Support

- Prohibition on "Social Transition" Support: Schools cannot facilitate a student's gender transition (e.g., name/pronoun changes, access to facilities, counseling) without explicit parental consent.
- Limits on Gender-Inclusive Practices: Educators may face restrictions on how they address gender identity and LGBTQ+ issues in the classroom, including in counseling and student support services.

3. Expanded Parental Rights and Oversight

- Increased Parental Authority: The executive order reinforces parental rights under FERPA (Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act) and PPRA (Protection of Pupil Rights Amendment), ensuring parents have access to curriculum materials and school records.
- Greater Transparency Expectations: Schools will likely need to increase communication with parents about what is being taught, particularly regarding history, race, and gender-related content.

Key Takeaways from the Executive Order

4. Federal Funding and Compliance

- Risk of Funding Cuts for Non-Compliance: Schools and districts receiving federal funding must ensure compliance with the new mandates or risk losing financial support.
- Legal and Policy Implications: Educators should stay informed about how state and local education
 policies align or conflict with federal mandates and what legal challenges may arise.

5. Reestablishment of the 1776 Commission

- Revival of Patriotic Education Initiative: The order reestablishes the 1776 Commission, which
 promotes a specific interpretation of U.S. history focused on national unity and pride rather than
 systemic inequities or historical injustices.
- Possible Curriculum Shifts: Schools may see new guidelines, teaching materials, or professional development opportunities aligned with this perspective.

6. Potential Classroom and School Climate Impact

- Impact on Teacher Autonomy: Educators may face greater scrutiny over their lesson plans and classroom discussions on topics related to history, race, and identity.
- Student Well-being Concerns: Policies that restrict discussions on systemic inequities or gender identity could impact students' sense of inclusion, belonging, and access to support services.
- Possible Conflicts with Local Policies: Some state and district policies may differ from this federal order, putting educators in the difficult position of navigating contradictory guidelines.

What Educators Can Do Right Now

- ✓ **Stay Informed:** Keep track of district policies, legal updates, and funding changes that may affect your teaching.
- ✓ **Engage in Professional Development:** Seek guidance on legally compliant instructional practices and strategies for inclusive, balanced teaching.
- ✓ **Communicate with Parents and Administrators:** Be prepared to explain curriculum choices and address concerns proactively.
- ✓ Advocate for Students: Ensure that all students feel valued, respected, and safe, regardless of policy shifts.
- ✓ **Collaborate with Colleagues:** Work together to share best practices and support one another through potential challenges in implementation.

Limitations of the Executive Order

While the **"Ending Radical Indoctrination in K-12 Schooling"** executive order introduces significant policy shifts, there are several limitations in its scope, enforceability, and potential impact. Below are key limitations to consider:

1. Legal and Constitutional Challenges

- Potential Conflicts with the First Amendment
 - Restrictions on discussing race, gender, and systemic inequities in schools could be challenged as violating free speech rights of educators and students.
 - Courts have previously ruled that curriculum censorship laws may violate academic freedom and the First Amendment.

Conflicts with Civil Rights Laws

- Limiting discussions on race and gender may conflict with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act (prohibiting racial discrimination) and Title IX (prohibiting gender discrimination).
- Schools are still required to comply with state and federal civil rights protections, which may contradict some provisions in the order.

• State vs. Federal Authority Over Education

- The U.S. Constitution gives states primary authority over education. This means states are not required to adopt federal curriculum policies.
- Some states or school districts may resist or challenge these directives, leading to uneven implementation nationwide.

2. Funding Limitations

No Direct Control Over State and Local Funding

- While the executive order threatens to withhold federal funds, most school funding comes from state and local governments (over 90% of total funding).
- Many schools may choose not to comply with the order if they can sustain operations without federal financial support.

Unclear Federal Enforcement Mechanisms

- The order does not outline a clear process for how federal agencies will audit, monitor, or penalize schools that do not comply.
- Many aspects of enforcement rely on state attorneys general, who may choose not to prioritize enforcement.

3. Implementation Challenges for Schools and Educators

Ambiguity in Curriculum Directives

- Terms like "patriotic education" and "discriminatory equity ideology" are broadly defined,
 making it unclear how schools should adjust their curriculum.
- Schools and teachers may struggle to determine what is allowed vs. restricted, leading to inconsistent applications across districts.

• Teacher Uncertainty and Chilling Effect

- Educators may self-censor discussions on important historical or social issues out of fear of violating vague guidelines.
- Teachers may feel pressure to avoid nuanced discussions on race, gender, and equity, leading to a less engaging and critical learning environment.

Resistance from Educators and Parents

- Some teacher unions, education advocacy groups, and civil rights organizations may oppose the order, making implementation difficult.
- Parents with diverse perspectives may push back against efforts to modify curricula based on political ideology rather than educational standards.

4. Conflicts with Existing State and Local Policies

States with Different Educational Standards

- Many states have already implemented culturally responsive teaching frameworks that emphasize diversity, equity, and inclusion.
- States with progressive education policies (e.g., California, New York, Illinois) may legally resist implementation of this order.

Local Control Over School Curriculum

- School boards and districts have authority over curriculum decisions, meaning they can choose not to comply if they deem it legally unnecessary.
- Some school districts may adopt alternative frameworks to balance state and federal directives while avoiding potential legal battles.

5. Temporary Impact - Can Be Reversed by Future Administrations

• Executive Orders Are Not Permanent Laws

- Unlike legislation passed by Congress, this order can be repealed or modified by future presidents.
- A change in administration could invalidate the order, causing uncertainty for long-term curriculum planning.

Court Injunctions Could Stall Implementation

- Legal challenges from civil rights groups, teacher unions, or state governments could lead to court injunctions that temporarily block enforcement.
- If a federal court deems parts of the order unconstitutional, schools may not be legally obligated to comply.



Press Coverage On the Executive Order

The New York Times

<u>Trump Signs Order to Promote 'Patriotic Education' in the Classroom</u>
By Zach Montague and Erica L. Green, January 29, 2025

Article Summary:

In late January 2025, President Donald Trump issued executive orders targeting diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI) initiatives in education and government. One order mandates the elimination of DEI programs across federal agencies, requiring the Office of Management and Budget to oversee the termination of related policies and compile lists of employees involved in DEI roles. Another order focuses on K–12 education, directing federal agencies to develop strategies to prevent what the administration terms "radical indoctrination," particularly concerning gender ideology and equity concepts. These actions have prompted concerns about potential impacts on civil rights protections and the autonomy of educational institutions.

Reuters

<u>Trump issues orders to promote school choice, end "anti-American" teaching</u> By Helen Coster and Nathan Layne, January 29, 2025

Article Summary:

On January 29, 2025, President Donald Trump signed two executive orders aimed at reshaping the U.S. education system. The first order directs the Department of Education to issue guidance on how states can utilize federal education funds to support school choice initiatives, emphasizing parental rights in selecting educational paths for their children. The second order seeks to prevent schools from using federal funds for curricula or teacher certification related to "gender ideology or discriminatory equity ideology," asserting that such teachings constitute "anti-American" indoctrination. Critics, including Democrats and teachers' unions, argue that these measures could undermine public education and suppress discussions on race and gender issues.

Politico

<u>Trump issues orders on K-12 'indoctrination', school choice, and campus protests</u> By Juan Perez Jr. and Mackenzie Wilkes, January 29, 2025

Article Summary:

On January 29, 2025, President Donald Trump signed three executive orders targeting K-12 education and higher education institutions. The first order directs federal agencies to eliminate what the administration terms "indoctrination" in K-12 schools by withholding federal funds from institutions that teach concepts such as critical race theory and gender ideology. The second order seeks to implement a federal school choice initiative, promoting alternatives to traditional public schooling. The third order mandates investigations into campus protests, particularly those perceived as suppressing conservative viewpoints. Additionally, one of the orders reinstates the 1776 Commission, originally established during Trump's first term, to promote patriotic education. These actions have garnered support from some congressional Republicans, who view them as protective measures for students and parental rights, while facing criticism from teacher unions and free speech advocates who argue that they may suppress academic freedom and open discourse.

Education Week

What's in Trump's New Executive Orders on Indoctrination and School Choice By Brooke Schultz, January 30, 2025

Article Summary:

In late January 2025, President Donald Trump issued two executive orders aimed at reshaping K-12 education. The first order directs federal agencies to develop strategies to eliminate what the administration terms "radical indoctrination" in schools, particularly targeting teachings related to critical race theory and gender identity. The second order seeks to expand school choice by instructing agencies to explore ways to increase access to private and charter schools, including the potential reallocation of federal funds to support these initiatives. These actions underscore the administration's commitment to promoting conservative educational policies, though their implementation may face legal challenges and is constrained by existing federal laws that limit the executive branch's authority over education.

The 74 Million

<u>Trump Orders Expanded Private School Choice, an End to 'Radical Indoctrination'</u> By Beth Hawkins, January 30, 2025

Article Summary:

On January 29, 2025, President Donald Trump issued two executive orders aimed at reshaping K-12 education. The first order directs federal agencies to prioritize the expansion of private school choice, including the development of universal K-12 scholarship programs. It instructs the Departments of Education, Defense, and Interior to create plans enabling military families and those with children in Bureau of Indian Education schools to use federal funds for private or alternative schooling options. The second order seeks to eliminate what the administration terms "radical indoctrination" in schools by withholding federal funds from institutions that teach "gender ideology" or "discriminatory equity ideology." It also calls for legal action against educators who facilitate the "social transition" of students, which may include supporting transgender students in aligning with their gender identity. Additionally, the order aims to revive the 1776 Commission to promote patriotic education. Critics, including teachers' unions, argue that these measures could divert public funds to private institutions and undermine public education.

PBS

<u>6 ways Trump's executive orders are targeting transgender people</u> By Geoff Mulvihill, Associate Press, February 1, 2025

Article Summary:

In early 2025, President Donald Trump issued a series of executive orders significantly impacting transgender individuals. These directives include defining gender strictly as male or female based on biological sex assigned at birth, thereby eliminating federal recognition of transgender and nonbinary identities. Consequently, federal agencies have been instructed to remove references to gender identity from their materials, and the State Department has ceased issuing passports

with "X" gender markers, preventing individuals from changing their gender designation on official documents. Additionally, an executive order prohibits transgender women and girls from participating in female sports teams, threatening to withdraw federal funding from educational institutions that do not comply. Another order aims to end federal support for gender-affirming medical treatments for minors under 19, directing agencies to halt funding and support for such procedures. These actions have prompted legal challenges from civil rights organizations, including the ACLU, which argues that these policies violate constitutional rights and endanger the well-being of transgender youth.

Chalkbeat

<u>Trump executive orders on DEI and schools big on drama, but impact will take time to emerge</u> By Kalyn Belsha and Erica Meltzer, February 3, 2025

Article Summary:

In his initial weeks of his second term, President Donald Trump has issued executive orders aiming to reshape K-12 education by eliminating diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI) initiatives and promoting private school vouchers. These directives include recognizing only two genders—male and female—which could significantly impact transgender students' rights. However, the immediate effects of these orders are uncertain, as education policy in the U.S. is largely determined by states and local districts. The administration has also signaled intentions to withhold federal funds from schools supporting gender transitions or teaching about systemic racism, though such actions are expected to face legal challenges and may take time to implement. Overall, while the executive orders set a clear agenda, their practical impact on schools will depend on various factors, including state responses and potential court rulings.

KQED

"Can Trump Actually Change Federal Funding Rules Through Executive Orders?"
By Carlos Cabrera-Lomelí, February 8, 2025

Article Summary:

In early 2025, President Donald Trump issued several executive orders aiming to alter federal funding allocations, particularly targeting programs associated with diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI), as well as initiatives related to gender ideology and environmental policies. One notable action was a memo from the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) directing federal agencies to temporarily pause funding for certain programs. This move led to widespread confusion and concern among organizations reliant on federal grants. Legal experts highlight that while the president can influence federal funding through executive orders, he cannot unilaterally change legislation or impound funds that Congress has appropriated. Such actions are subject to legal constraints and often face judicial challenges, as evidenced by a federal judge temporarily blocking the OMB's funding freeze. This situation underscores the complex interplay between executive authority and legislative power in determining federal spending.

The Washington Post

"Latest Trump guidance on race has schools scrambling amid 'intense fear'"
By Laura Meckler and Susan Syrluga, February 22, 2025

Article Summary:

This article discusses the Trump administration's recent Education Department letter, which threatens to withdraw federal funding from schools and colleges that consider race in any way, including race-neutral policies designed to promote diversity. The letter, issued by the Office for Civil Rights, extends the 2023 Supreme Court ruling against race-conscious admissions to hiring, discipline policies, scholarships, and other campus practices. Many legal experts argue the guidance overreaches and lacks legal precedent, creating widespread fear and uncertainty among educational institutions. Schools are scrambling to interpret and comply with the directive, with some considering policy changes to avoid financial penalties. Critics describe the move as "regulation by intimidation," while conservative groups praise it as necessary to eliminate DEI initiatives. The legal basis for the letter remains contested, and a federal judge has blocked parts of Trump's related executive orders. The debate highlights the ongoing legal and political battles over race-conscious policies in education.

K-12 educators committed to advancing racial equity should critically analyze news about this executive order by considering the following key questions:

Legal & Policy Implications

- What are the legal limitations of executive orders in shaping K-12 curriculum and funding?
 - O How much authority does the federal government have over state and local education policies?
 - What legal challenges might these orders face, and how could court rulings impact their implementation?
- How might the withholding of federal funds from schools teaching racial equity concepts affect students and educators?
 - What are the potential consequences for schools that prioritize equity-focused curricula?
 - How might this affect compliance with civil rights protections under laws such as Title VI of the Civil Rights Act?

Curriculum & Pedagogy

- How can educators continue to teach about systemic racism and historical inequities while adhering to new legal restrictions?
 - What strategies can be used to ensure that discussions on race and equity remain evidence-based and aligned with state standards?
 - How can teachers protect academic freedom while avoiding accusations of "indoctrination"?
- What impact could these orders have on professional development for educators?
 - How might restrictions on DEI initiatives affect teacher training and instructional strategies?
 - Are there alternative ways to equip educators with culturally responsive teaching practices without violating new policies?

Equity & Inclusion in Schools

- How could these executive orders impact students of color, LGBTQ+ students, and other marginalized groups?
 - What steps can educators take to create inclusive classrooms while navigating potential restrictions?
 - How might students' sense of belonging and well-being be affected by policies that limit discussions of identity and equity?

- What role should parents and community members play in shaping school responses to these policies?
 - How can educators engage families in conversations about the importance of racial equity in education?
 - What resources or partnerships can schools leverage to continue supporting diverse student needs?

Broader Social & Political Considerations

- How do different media outlets frame this issue, and what biases might be present?
 - How do various perspectives on these executive orders reflect broader societal debates on education and equity?
 - How can educators critically evaluate news sources to better understand the motivations behind these policy changes?
- How might these orders shape the long-term landscape of public education?
 - Could this lead to increased privatization of education and a shift away from public schools?
 - What are the potential long-term effects on educational equity and access for historically marginalized students?

By reflecting on these questions, educators can thoughtfully navigate the evolving policy landscape, uphold principles of racial equity, and continue fostering critical thinking in their classrooms while remaining aware of legal and institutional constraints.



Public Statements in Response to the Executive Order

American Federal of Teachers (AFT)

On January 29, 2025, American Federation of Teachers (AFT) published a press release in which President Randi Weingarten criticized President Donald Trump's executive order, which aims to redirect federal funds from public schools to private institutions. Weingarten argued that this plan undermines public education by diverting resources to unaccountable private entities, potentially diminishing community schools and essential services they provide. She emphasized that Americans desire safe and welcoming public schools that prepare students for future success, and labeled the order as a recycled and likely illegal attempt to deprive classrooms of necessary resources. Weingarten also noted that vouchers often benefit wealthy families with children already in private schools, effectively serving as a tax cut for the rich while disadvantaging public education. She concluded by stating that this order would unite parents and educators in defending public schools, lamenting the need to fight for institutions that serve 90% of American children.

American Historical Society (AHA) and Organization of American Historians (OHA)

On February 5, 2025, the American Historical Association (AHA) and the Organization of American Historians (OAH) issued a joint statement criticizing the presidential executive order titled "Ending Radical Indoctrination in K-12 Schooling." They argue that the order misrepresents history education in the U.S. by alleging widespread educational malpractice and imposing a narrow, ideological view of patriotism. The statement emphasizes that teaching a comprehensive and honest account of American history, including its contradictions and challenges, is essential for fostering informed citizens. The AHA and OAH reject the notion that exploring the full scope of the nation's past is "anti-American" or "subversive," asserting that such education inspires genuine patriotism and prepares students for active civic engagement.

American School Counselor Association (ASCA)

The American School Counselor Association (ASCA) issued a <u>statement</u> expressing concern that the White House Executive Order titled "Ending Radical Indoctrination in K-12 Schooling" misrepresents the role of school counselors and undermines the essential support they provide to students. ASCA emphasizes that school counselors implement comprehensive programs designed to equip students with the knowledge, attitudes, and skills necessary for college, career, and life readiness. They clarify that school counselors do not indoctrinate, diagnose, or provide treatment; instead, they offer short-term counseling, group sessions, classroom instruction, and other services aimed at fostering academic success and essential life skills. ASCA also highlights the importance of affirming parents' and guardians' rights to be the guiding voice in their children's lives and underscores the ethical responsibility of school counselors to adhere to federal, state, and local laws, as well as district policies. The association reaffirms its commitment to collaborating with educational partners to change policies or laws that create obstacles to student well-being and academic success, and stresses the essential role of school counselors in creating safe and supportive learning environments for all students, regardless of their background or circumstances.

Colorado Education Association (CEA)

On January 30, 2025, the Colorado Education Association (CEA) <u>responded</u> to President Donald Trump's executive order titled "Ending Radical Indoctrination in K-12 Schooling." CEA President Kevin Vick condemned the order, stating that it seeks to eliminate federal funding for schools that teach concepts related to gender identity and diversity, equity, and inclusion. Vick emphasized that such measures undermine educators' efforts to provide inclusive and comprehensive education to all students. He also highlighted the importance of teaching diverse perspectives to prepare students for a multicultural society and criticized the executive order for promoting a narrow and exclusionary view of education.

National Association of School Psychologists

On February 6, 2025, the National Association of School Psychologists (NASP) published a Policy Matters <u>blog post</u> explaining that executive orders (EOs) are directives issued by the President to manage operations within the federal government. While EOs can influence federal agencies' actions, they do not create new laws or directly alter existing ones; such changes require legislative action by Congress. The impact of an EO largely depends on its scope and the specific directives it contains. For instance, an EO may instruct a federal agency to develop guidelines or propose regulations, but the implementation of these directives often involves a process that includes public input and adherence to existing laws. Therefore, while EOs can set policy priorities and direct the focus of federal agencies, their authority is limited, and they cannot unilaterally impose new legal obligations on states or individuals.

National Council for the Social Studies (NCSS)

On February 4, 2025, the National Council for the Social Studies (NCSS) issued a <u>statement</u> in response to President Donald Trump's executive order titled "Ending Radical Indoctrination in K-12 Schooling." The NCSS contends that the executive order misrepresents the state of social studies education in the United States. They argue that comprehensive studies have found no evidence of indoctrination, politicization, or deliberate classroom malpractice in K-12 education. The NCSS emphasizes the importance of providing students with a well-rounded education that encourages critical thinking and informed citizenship, rather than imposing a narrow ideological perspective.

National Education Association (NEA)

On January 29, 2025, the National Education Association (NEA) President Becky Pringle issued a statement condemning President Donald Trump's executive order that threatens to withhold federal funds from schools teaching comprehensive American history. Pringle argues that the order aims to restrict educators' freedom to provide honest and accurate curricula, thereby undermining efforts to create inclusive and supportive learning environments for all students, regardless of gender identity or race. She emphasizes that, instead of fostering student success, the administration's actions seek to distract and divide, punishing educators dedicated to ensuring schools are safe spaces where every student feels valued. The NEA vows to continue organizing, advocating, and mobilizing alongside parents and allies to secure well-resourced schools that offer inclusive education, preparing students for the future.

When reading public statements from professional associations and organizations about this executive order, K-12 educators committed to advancing racial equity should consider the following key questions:

Evaluating Organizational Perspectives & Biases

- What is the mission and historical stance of this organization on issues related to education, racial equity, and curriculum development?
 - Does this organization have a track record of advocacy in racial equity, DEI, or educational policy?
 - How might the organization's values and priorities shape its response to the executive order?
- How does the organization frame the executive order—what language and tone do they use?
 - o Are the arguments based on legal, educational, or social implications?
 - o Does the statement focus on facts, advocacy, political positioning, or a combination?
- How does this statement compare to others from different organizations?
 - o Are there common concerns among various professional associations?
 - O Do different groups emphasize unique perspectives (e.g., teachers' unions vs. historians vs. school psychologists)?

Legal and Policy Considerations

- · What does the organization say about the legal limitations of the executive order?
 - Does the statement address whether the order can legally enforce changes in school funding, curriculum, or educational policy?
 - Are there references to legal challenges or state autonomy in determining curriculum standards?
- How does the organization interpret the potential impact of the order on public school funding and curriculum?
 - Does the statement discuss the risks of funding cuts, particularly in historically underfunded communities?
 - Does it highlight potential disparities in education access resulting from increased school choice policies?

Impact on Educators and Students

- What are the potential consequences of the executive order for racial equity in schools?
 - Does the statement discuss how the order might affect students of color, LGBTQ+ students, and other marginalized communities?
 - Does it highlight challenges in teaching diverse perspectives and fostering inclusive learning environments?
- How does the organization suggest educators navigate these policy changes while still advancing racial equity?
 - Are there recommendations for teachers on how to approach history, DEI, and equity-related topics within legal constraints?
 - Does the statement provide alternative strategies or professional development resources for educators?

Public Advocacy and Institutional Response

- · What actions does the organization encourage in response to the executive order?
 - o Does it call for legal challenges, grassroots advocacy, or community organizing?
 - How does it suggest educators, parents, and community members engage with policymakers?
- How does the organization position educators in the broader public discourse on race, gender, and education?
 - Does the statement reinforce the role of educators as professionals with academic freedom?
 - How does it address concerns about "indoctrination" and the framing of public education in political debates?

Long-Term Implications

- What are the potential long-term effects of this executive order on K-12 education?
 - o Could this order set a precedent for future restrictions on racial equity education?
 - What are the possible impacts on teacher autonomy, professional development, and school accountability?

By critically engaging with these public statements, educators can better understand the implications of policy shifts, identify strategies for sustaining equity-centered education, and navigate potential challenges while ensuring students receive a comprehensive and inclusive education.

Legal Analysis of the Executive Order



Dori Pagé Antonetti and Joseph Miller, Attorneys at Shipman & Goodwin, LLP

On January 29, 2025, President Donald Trump issued the executive order titled "Ending Radical Indoctrination in K-12 Schooling," asserting that students are being subjected to "anti-American, subversive, harmful, and false ideologies." The order directs the Secretaries of Education, Defense, and Health and Human Services, in consultation with the Attorney General, to develop an "Ending Indoctrination Strategy." This strategy aims to eliminate federal funding for what the administration deems illegal and discriminatory treatment and indoctrination in K-12 schools, particularly concerning gender ideology and equity concepts. The order also emphasizes protecting parental rights under existing federal laws such as the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) and the Protection of Pupil Rights Amendment (PPRA). Additionally, it reinstates the President's Advisory 1776 Commission to promote patriotic education. Legal experts suggest that while the order does not necessitate immediate action from schools, it may face legal challenges that could affect its implementation. Read the complete article <a href="https://example.com/hearth-res-example.com/hear

Jessica F. Moyer, Managing Partner and Education Law Attorney at KingSpry

On January 29, 2025, President Donald Trump signed the executive order titled "Ending Radical Indoctrination in K-12 Schooling," which directs the Secretaries of Education, Defense, and Health and Human Services, in consultation with the Attorney General, to develop an "Ending Indoctrination Strategy." This strategy aims to eliminate federal funding for what the administration deems illegal and discriminatory treatment and indoctrination in K-12 schools, particularly concerning gender ideology and equity concepts. It also emphasizes protecting parental rights under existing federal laws such as FERPA and PPRA. The order mandates a comprehensive review of federal funding streams that may support these ideologies and calls for enforcement actions against educators who unlawfully facilitate the social transition of minor students. Additionally, the executive order reinstates the President's Advisory 1776 Commission to promote patriotic education and requires federally funded educational institutions to conduct programs on the U.S. Constitution annually on September 17. Legal experts suggest that while the order pushes existing legal boundaries, it does not necessitate immediate action from schools but may face legal challenges that could affect its implementation. Read the complete article here.

Susan D. Friedfel, Monica H. Khetarpal, Michelle E. Phillips, Carol R. Ashley and Laura A. Victorelli, Attorneys at Jackson & Lewis

On January 29, 2025, President Donald Trump issued two executive orders impacting K-12 education. The "Ending Radical Indoctrination in K-12 Schooling" order directs federal agencies to develop strategies to eliminate federal funding for programs promoting "discriminatory equity ideology" and "gender ideology," aiming to remove what it deems "anti-American" content from school curricula. The order also reinstates the 1776 Commission to promote patriotic education. The "Expanding Educational Freedom and Opportunity for Families" order encourages the allocation of public funds to increase private, faith-based, and public charter school options, thereby promoting school choice. These orders may lead to increased scrutiny of school curricula, certification procedures, and training programs, as well as potential challenges related to privacy and harassment concerns. Read the complete article <a href="https://example.com/here-en/but/h

Guillermo Mayer, Attorney and President of Public Advocates

In response to President Donald Trump's executive order titled "Ending Radical Indoctrination in K-12 Schooling," educators and advocates are exploring strategies to uphold inclusive and comprehensive education. The order seeks to eliminate federal funding for schools that teach concepts related to gender identity and diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI). Critics argue that this move undermines efforts to provide students with a well-rounded education that reflects diverse perspectives. To resist the order's implications, educators are encouraged to collaborate with local communities, engage in open dialogues about curriculum content, and seek support from professional organizations dedicated to academic freedom. Legal challenges are also anticipated, as opponents of the order assert that it infringes upon educators' rights and the principles of free speech. By fostering community engagement and pursuing legal avenues, educators aim to continue offering students an education that prepares them for a diverse and complex society. Read the complete article here.

Essential Questions to Consider

When reading legal analysis of this executive order, K-12 educators committed to advancing racial equity should consider the following key questions:

Understanding the Legal Authority & Limitations of the Executive Order

- What legal mechanisms does the executive order use to attempt to influence education policy?
 - Does it rely on existing federal laws such as FERPA (Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act) and PPRA (Protection of Pupil Rights Amendment)?
 - How does it propose to withhold federal funding, and what are the legal limits of that power?
- What are the legal challenges the order may face?
 - o Could state autonomy over education limit its implementation?
 - Are there potential constitutional concerns, such as violations of the First Amendment (free speech, academic freedom) or Fourteenth Amendment (equal protection under the law)?
- Can federal agencies legally enforce the removal of certain curricula or professional development programs?
 - o What role does the Department of Education have in regulating local school curricula?
 - What existing federal laws or court precedents might restrict the enforcement of this order?

Impact on School Policies & Practices

- How could the order affect the ability of schools to teach racial equity and gender inclusion?
 - Could schools lose federal funding for offering professional development on DEI?
 - O Does this order restrict the discussion of systemic racism, gender identity, or inclusion efforts?
- What does the order mean for educators' professional responsibilities and legal risks?
 - Could teachers face enforcement actions or disciplinary measures for addressing topics such as systemic racism or gender identity?
 - How might educators balance compliance with the law while upholding ethical responsibilities to students?
- Does the executive order infringe upon student rights or protections?
 - Could the order conflict with federal civil rights protections under Title VI (race and ethnicity protections) or Title IX (gender protections)?
 - How might it affect LGBTQ+ students' rights, particularly regarding gender identity support in schools?

Essential Questions to Consider

Navigating Legal Risks & Institutional Responses

- · What guidance should educators seek from legal experts and professional organizations?
 - O Are there state education policies that override federal directives on curriculum control?
 - How can schools and teachers stay informed about pending legal challenges and their implications?
- How can educators ensure compliance while maintaining their commitment to racial equity?
 - What alternative strategies can educators use to incorporate diverse perspectives without violating new policies?
 - O How might community engagement and advocacy play a role in protecting inclusive education?

Broader Implications for Public Education

- How does this executive order fit into the larger policy landscape on school funding and privatization?
 - What are the long-term consequences of shifting federal funding to private, faith-based, or charter schools?
 - Could this order lead to a broader restructuring of public education funding in favor of school choice policies?
- How does the reinstatement of the 1776 Commission affect history education?
 - Could this lead to a more restrictive approach to teaching about race and American history?
 - What impact might this have on textbook selection, state standards, and history curriculum?

By critically reviewing legal analyses and consulting education law attorneys and local legal experts, educators can better understand their rights, obligations, and potential strategies to continue fostering inclusive and equity-centered learning environments while navigating new legal landscapes.



What Educators Can Do to Strategically Respond

To navigate the **uncertainties, challenges, and potential conflicts** of the executive order while ensuring that students receive a high-quality, inclusive education, educators and school leaders should adopt a **proactive, balanced, and legally sound approach**. Below is a **strategic response plan** tailored for schools.

1. Legal and Policy Compliance: Understanding the Boundaries

- ✓ Stay Informed on Legal Rights and Obligations
 - Review federal, state, and district policies to understand what is required and what remains legally protected in education.
 - Consult legal experts or state education agencies to clarify how civil rights laws (Title VI, Title IX, FERPA, PPRA) interact with the executive order.
- ✓ Monitor State and Local Policy Responses
 - Since education is largely governed at the state and district level, monitor how your state department of education and school board interpret and implement the executive order.
 - Advocate for policies that maintain academic integrity and student protections at the local school board level.
- ✓ Prepare for Legal Challenges and Changes
 - Recognize that the order could be challenged in court and that a future administration may overturn it.
 - Work with educator unions, legal advocates, and professional organizations to stay informed about potential legal reversals or new guidance.

2. Curriculum & Instructional Strategies: Maintaining High-Quality Education

- ✓ Ensure Instruction is Rooted in Evidence-Based Best Practices
 - Continue teaching history, civics, and social studies with academic integrity, using primary sources, multiple perspectives, and critical thinking exercises.
 - Avoid self-censorship—instead, focus on legally sound instructional approaches that emphasize critical analysis and open discussion.
- ✓ Adjust Curriculum to Meet Compliance Without Compromising Integrity
 - If restrictions arise on teaching about systemic racism or gender identity, frame discussions around historical facts, legal precedents, and constitutional principles.
 - Use inquiry-based learning to let students explore complex issues through research and evidence-based discussions rather than direct instruction on controversial topics.
- ✓ Foster Critical Thinking and Student Inquiry
 - o Instead of presenting pre-determined ideological perspectives, shift toward Socratic questioning, debate formats, and primary-source analysis to encourage independent thought.
 - Teach students how to analyze multiple viewpoints and form their own conclusions rather than imposing or prohibiting specific narratives.

- ✓ Maintain Transparency in Teaching Practices
 - o If required, provide curriculum overviews to parents while ensuring that educators retain professional autonomy in how they teach complex subjects.
 - Be prepared to explain lesson objectives in ways that emphasize academic standards rather than political viewpoints.

3. Supporting Educators & Professional Development

- ✓ Provide Training on Legally Sound Teaching Strategies
 - Offer PD sessions on how to discuss history, race, gender, and civic engagement within the new legal landscape.
 - Equip teachers with strategies to respond to student questions without violating district policies or federal guidelines.
- ✓ Establish a Support Network for Educators
 - Create peer discussion groups where educators can share best practices, resources, and support as they navigate policy changes.
 - Encourage participation in state and national educator organizations that can provide guidance, legal updates, and advocacy support.
- ✓ Document & Track Curriculum Changes for Future Advocacy
 - Maintain records of any district-mandated curriculum changes to assess their impact on student learning and classroom discourse.
 - If the order is legally overturned, these records can support a return to evidence-based, inclusive educational practices.

4. Engaging Parents & the Community

- ✓ Increase Transparency While Advocating for Balanced Education
 - o Host parent forums and town halls to discuss curriculum changes without fueling division.
 - o Emphasize that the goal is to provide students with historical knowledge, critical thinking skills, and civic engagement tools—not political indoctrination.
- ✓ Work with Parent and Community Groups
 - Engage diverse community stakeholders to build broad support for equity, inclusion, and well-rounded education.
 - Encourage parents to attend school board meetings to ensure that curriculum decisions reflect educational expertise rather than political pressure.
- ✓ Develop Clear Messaging to Address Concerns
 - When discussing curriculum, frame topics around historical accuracy, civic knowledge, and critical thinking, rather than controversial buzzwords.
 - Use facts and student outcomes to demonstrate the importance of inclusive, rigorous education.

5. Safeguarding Student Well-Being

- ✓ Ensure All Students Feel Safe & Supported
 - Regardless of the executive order, continue to provide a safe, inclusive learning environment for all students, including LGBTQ+ and historically marginalized students.
 - o If policies restrict discussions on identity, ensure that student support services remain legally available, including school counselors and social-emotional learning programs.
- ✓ Equip Educators to Handle Sensitive Conversations
 - Provide guidelines on how to respond to student concerns about their identities, history, or current events within legal and ethical parameters.
 - Encourage a focus on constitutional rights, historical context, and student-led discussion rather than avoiding topics altogether.
- ✓ Maintain Compliance with Title VI & Title IX Protections
 - Even under new federal guidance, schools are still required to ensure non-discrimination based on race and gender under existing civil rights laws.
 - Monitor whether new policies inadvertently increase discrimination risks, and be prepared to address violations appropriately.

Move Forward with Purpose

- Stay proactive, not reactive—focus on educational integrity, student well-being, and community collaboration rather than political tensions.
- Empower educators—provide them with resources, training, and legal guidance to navigate policy shifts while maintaining academic excellence.
- Support students and families—ensure that every child continues to receive a well-rounded, inclusive, and empowering education.
- Be prepared for legal shifts—this executive order may face legal challenges or reversal, so schools should be flexible and strategic in their responses.

Key Resources for Educators Advancing Equity



Key Resources for Educators Advancing Equity

Here are some **recommended online resources** for educators committed to advancing educational equity despite the new executive order:

1. Professional Development & Legal Guidance

- The Education Law Center Provides legal guidance on civil rights protections and school equity policies.
- American Federation of Teachers (AFT) Civil, Human, and Women's Rights Resources for teachers advocating for equity in education.
- National Education Association (NEA) Racial & Social Justice Offers webinars and materials
 on fostering equitable education.
- USC Race and Equity Center Offers professional development, lesson plans, and resources for fostering inclusive classrooms.
- <u>Learning for Justice (formerly Teaching Tolerance)</u> Offers professional development, lesson plans, and resources for fostering inclusive classrooms.

2. Culturally Responsive Teaching & Curriculum Development

- o Zinn Education Project Lesson plans on people's history and social justice topics.
- <u>Facing History and Ourselves</u> Materials for teaching about racism, antisemitism, and social justice.
- The Smithsonian's National Museum of African American History & Culture Free guides and tools for discussing race in classrooms.
- o EdChange Tools and strategies for culturally responsive teaching.

3. Inclusive History & Civic Education

- Stanford History Education Group (SHEG) Free historical thinking curriculum with primary sources.
- <u>Civic Online Reasoning Project (Stanford)</u> Helps educators teach students to analyze digital and historical sources critically.
- o iCivics Interactive civic education games and resources to teach about democracy and rights.

4. Equity-Focused Policy & Advocacy

- o Education Trust Data and advocacy for closing opportunity gaps in schools.
- Southern Poverty Law Center (SPLC) Education Equity Resources for ensuring education access for all students.
- GLSEN (Gay, Lesbian & Straight Education Network) Research and resources for creating LGBTQ+ inclusive schools.
- o The National Equity Project Training and consulting services for educational equity initiatives.

Here are four key resources to help educators and school leaders navigate the executive order while maintaining educational integrity:

- 1. Lesson Plan Modifications (for history, civics, and social studies)
- 2. Talking Points for School Leaders, Teachers, and Parents
- 3. Legal Compliance Checklist (to align with federal and state laws)
- 4. Parent Engagement Strategy Guide

Resource 1: Lesson Plan Modifications for Compliance & Integrity

Objective: Ensure that lessons on history, civics, race, and identity comply with new federal directives while maintaining academic integrity and fostering critical thinking.

1. Teaching American History & Civics

- **Approach:** Use **primary sources** (Constitution, Declaration of Independence, Federalist Papers) to let students analyze **historical perspectives of different groups directly**.
- Modification: Examine historical inequalities through legal cases and policies (e.g., Brown v. Board of Education, Civil Rights Act) to critically examine evidence and different perspectives of systemic racism.
- **Critical Thinking Prompt:** "How have different groups in America fought for their rights over time? Use evidence from primary sources to support your answer."
- **Recommendation:** Encourage discussion on **historical movements for racial justice**, ensuring age-appropriate content that reflects the complexity of these issues.

2. Addressing Race & Identity Without Violating Restrictions

- **Approach:** Frame discussions around "different historical perspectives" rather than language that suggests a monolithic narrative about racial, ethnic, or gender identities.
- Modification: Analyze how historical policies (e.g., Jim Crow laws, redlining) shaped economic and social mobility to critically examine racial privilege/unconscious bias.
- **Alternative Discussion Prompt:** "How did housing policies in the 20th century impact different communities, and what were the long-term effects?"
- **Recommendation:** Provide **context on contemporary discussions of racial equity** by linking them to past historical events and allowing students to develop their own analyses.

3. Gender & Social Studies Topics

- **Approach:** Discuss gender **through historical and legal lenses** to promote critical examination of modern identity nomenclature and politics.
- Modification: Examine legal frameworks such as Title IX and Women's Suffrage movements to
 promote critical discussion of gender identity, access, and opportunity.
- **Critical Thinking Prompt:** "How did the passage of Title IX impact gender equality in education and sports?"
- **Recommendation:** Include discussions on **gender roles throughout history**, ensuring that content is age-appropriate and developmentally suitable.

4. Teaching Age-Appropriate Discussions on Sexuality

- Approach: Use biological, historical, and cultural perspectives to discuss sexuality in an ageappropriate manner.
- Modification: Discuss the evolution of societal norms on marriage and family structures to promote critical examination of current political narratives.
- Recommendation: Align lessons with state health education standards, ensuring discussions on respect, inclusion, and diverse family structures.

5. Inquiry-Based Learning to Navigate Restrictions

- Use **Socratic Seminars**: Pose questions and let students explore perspectives rather than offering pre-set viewpoints.
- Encourage **debate formats**: Let students research opposing viewpoints and defend their positions using historical evidence.
- **Recommendation**: Support students in forming their own reasoned opinions on race, gender, and identity by emphasizing historical documents and evidence-based reasoning.

Resource 2: Talking Points for School Leaders, Teachers, and Parents

For School Leaders (Principals, Superintendents)

- "Our priority is to ensure that all students receive a **fact-based**, **well-rounded education** that encourages critical thinking."
- · "We remain committed to legal compliance while ensuring educational excellence."
- "We welcome parental engagement and transparency and will provide resources to help families understand curriculum changes."
- "We recognize the importance of **age-appropriate discussions on race, gender, and identity** and will ensure lessons align with educational best practices."

For Teachers

- "Our goal is to teach history and civics through primary sources and inquiry-based learning."
- "We encourage students to think critically about history rather than memorizing political perspectives."
- · "We will continue to provide a safe, respectful classroom environment for all students."
- "We are committed to **subject-appropriate discussions on race, gender, and sexuality** that align with state education standards."

For Parents

- "We respect parental involvement and will ensure curriculum transparency."
- "Our school will continue to teach history, civics, and government using historical documents and legal analysis."
- "We encourage open communication and value diverse perspectives in shaping education."
- "We recognize the importance of teaching **age-appropriate lessons on race, gender, and identity** in a manner that is respectful and factual."

Resource 3: Legal Compliance Checklist

- ✓ Ensure all curriculum materials align with federal, state, and local policies.
- ✓ Avoid using instructional materials that explicitly violate the executive order's prohibitions.
- ✓ Provide professional development for teachers on **legally sound instructional strategies** for discussing race, gender, and sexuality.
- ✓ Maintain FERPA and PPRA compliance for parental rights and access to educational materials.
- ✓ Ensure classroom discussions follow a **Socratic or evidence-based inquiry model** rather than teacher-led opinions.
- ✓ Monitor federal and state updates for potential legal challenges or policy reversals.
- ✓ Integrate **historical and factual discussions of race, gender, and sexuality** where age-appropriate and relevant to subject matter.

Resource 4: Parent Engagement Strategy Guide

- ✓ Host Informational Sessions: Offer town halls to address curriculum concerns and school policies.
- ✓ **Distribute Curriculum Overviews:** Provide summaries of history and civics units so parents understand what's being taught.
- ✓ **Encourage Parental Involvement:** Create parent advisory committees for curriculum transparency discussions.
- ✓ **Communicate Proactively:** Send newsletters with updates on how the school is ensuring both **legal compliance and student-centered learning**.
- ✓ **Provide Resources:** Share recommended reading lists, lesson objectives, and primary source collections for parents who want to engage further.
- ✓ Clarify How Schools Address Race, Gender, and Sexuality: Provide clear guidelines on how educators approach these topics in age-appropriate ways aligned with state and federal regulations.

Looking Ahead: Essential Questions to Consider

- How can you balance compliance with the executive order while ensuring inclusive, equitable education?
- What instructional strategies can you use to continue teaching complex social issues through historical and legal analysis?
- How can you engage parents/caregivers in constructive dialogue about curriculum changes?
- What professional development do you need to equip you with best practices in navigating sensitive topics?
- How can you and your colleagues work in partnership with parents/caregivers to ensure all students feel safe and respected in learning environments given the policy shifts?



About the Author



John Pascarella is Chief Academic Officer of USC Race and Equity
Center and Professor of Clinical Education in the USC Rossier School of
Education. As an expert in racial equity and teacher education, he has
published more than two dozen publications including peer-reviewed
articles in Cultural Studies & Critical Methodologies, Educational
Studies, Taboo: The Journal of Culture and Education, and New Jersey
English Journal. Dr. Pascarella has appeared as a featured expert on
The Dr. Phil Show and Ethical Schools podcast, has published Op-Eds
in Education Week, The Hechinger Report, and LA School Report, and

has given over 100 invited talks and conference presentations dedicated to advancing equity-driven K-12 schools, colleges, and universities. Before joining the Center, Dr. Pascarella served as Chair of the Master of Arts in Teaching programs, Director of Clinical Experiences, and USC Faculty Fellow in Residence. Prior to his appointments at USC, he taught English Language Arts and Literature in urban New Jersey high schools and served as an Adjunct Professor at Montclair State University, a Course Lecturer at McGill University, and a Visiting Researcher at the University of KwaZulu-Natal.

About the USC Race and Equity Center

Founded by Professor Shaun R. Harper, and directed by Professor Jessica T. DeCuir-Gunby, the USC Race and Equity Center is home to a dynamic research and organizational improvement center that helps professionals in educational institutions, corporations, and other contexts strategically develop and achieve equity goals, better understand and correct climate problems, avoid and recover from racial crises, and engineer sustainable cultures of inclusion and respect. Evidence, as well as scalable and adaptable models of success, inform our rigorous approach. Grants from the Ford, Lumina, Bill and Melinda Gates, W.K. Kellogg, Kresge, and Open Society Foundations have funded the Center's research and partnerships. The center to the USC Equity Leadership Academies (a professional learning and organizational change series for K-12 schools and districts), USC Equity Institutes (a professional learning and organizational change series for higher education institutions), the National Assessment of Collegiate Campus Climates (a quantitative survey), PRISM (a racial equity employee recruitment tech tool for higher education), and DEI Business Solutions for businesses and agencies.

USC Race and Equity Center

For More Information and Resources

Visit http://race.usc.edu/k-12/ Email k12race@usc.edu

Follow us



@USCRaceEquityCenter



@uscraceequity



@USCRaceEquity



USC Race and Equity Center